1983

Patti Simonson v. Robert Gordon Travis : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 1, 1978, the plaintiff was involved in a motor vehicle accident at Roy, Utah (R. 1,2).

Plaintiff claims that defendant's negligence caused the collision and that as a result of the collision plaintiff suffered personal injuries, medical expenses, loss of earnings and property damage (R. 1-3, and T. 19,27,28).

The defendant carried automobile liability insurance with State Farm Insurance Company, hereinafter called State Farm (T. 4,5), and shortly after the accident plaintiff contacted, or was contacted by, representatives of State Farm including a property damage repair estimator (T.6, 21) and one Homer F. Randall who was a claims adjuster in charge of managing and adjusting plaintiff's losses (T. 4-8,16,25).

Five exhibits were offered on stipulation and received in evidence (R. 22,24), namely:

<u>EXHIBIT NO.</u>	<u>DATE OF INST.</u>	<u>DESCRIPTION</u>
1.	2/2/78	Repair estimate prepared by State Farm reflecting cost of repairs to be \$622.45.
2.	3/8/78	Release signed by plaintiff but prepared and modified by State Farm reflecting total consideration of \$622.45.

- | | | |
|----|---------|--|
| 3. | 3/3/78 | State Farm draft for \$622.45. |
| 4. | 3/17/78 | National Car Rental invoice for \$31.50. |
| 5. | 5/15/78 | State Farm draft to Jenson and Sons in amount of \$31.50 for car rental. |

Homer F. Randall testified, in substance, as follows: (a) that he had been employed by State Farm for 18½ years as a claims adjuster (T. 4); (b) that he managed the adjustment of plaintiff's claims (T. 5-8,15); (c) that he concluded that liability was probably against State Farm's insured (T.5); (d) that the printed matter in Exhibit 2 is a standard release form used by State Farm; (T. 7,8); (e) that the handwriting in Exhibit 2, except for plaintiff's signature, is that of Mr. Randall (T. 7,8); (f) that the typed matter on Exhibit 2 is in words selected by State Farm and inserted by staff of State Farm (T. 8,15); (g) that he had conversations with plaintiff, but he cannot remember her other than by name (T. 5), and he cannot remember the contents of conversations (T.5,16,17,35), nor whether he in fact represented that release was for property damage only (T.16, 17,35); (h) that State Farm paid \$31.50 car rental about one week following the release because of an agreement outside the release (T. 10,16,27);

(i) that he knew plaintiff was receiving medical treatment (T. 10,11,25,36), but he made no inquiry concerning whether plaintiff had been released by her doctor (T. 11); (j) that State Farm paid to plaintiff the exact amount of her auto repair estimate in consideration for her release, (Ex. 1,2,3, T. 9); (k) that the release was executed some five weeks after the accident and he had no idea as to extent of plaintiff's medicals or no-fault coverage (T. 10,11,1); (l) that an insurance adjuster has a duty to deal fairly with claimants (T. 11,13); (m) that he was aware of arguments by plaintiff with office staff (T. 16,33); (n) that he does not remember whether he misrepresented the scope of the release in 1978 (T. 16,17,30); (o) that State Farm paid plaintiff's insurance carrier for no-fault benefits an amount of \$2,100.00, plus (T. 37); and, (p) that he has an understanding of the Utah no-fault law (T. 37,38).

The plaintiff testified, in substance, as follows: (a) that she suffered personal injuries, loss of earnings, and incurred medical expenses, in excess of \$1,000.00 as a result of said accident (T. 28); (b) that plaintiff argued with State Farm staff, caused insertion of typed matter, and relied on Homer Randall concerning the scope and effect of the release (T. 16, 24, 25, 31, 32, 3), and she was

caused by Homer Randall she that was releasing property damage only (T. 28, 26, 32); (c) some five days after the release plaintiff demanded car rental payment which was in fact paid March 15, 1978, (Ex. 5, T. 27); (d) that plaintiff incurred in excess of \$5,000. in medical bills and she continues to owe for medical bills resulting from this accident (T. 28,29); and (e) plaintiff trusted Homer Randall and did not think he would lie to her (T. 32).

This action for personal injuries with a prayer for special and general damages was filed by plaintiff in the Davis County District Court on April 14, 1980 (R. 1,2). Plaintiff was represented by Richard Richards, Esq., who subsequently withdrew his appearance in this action (R. 16), and this writer entered his appearance as counsel for plaintiff in January 30, 1981 (R. 16). The plaintiff's counsel has diligently sought to put this part of the case in a posture for final resolution since the trial on May 13, 1981 (R. 25,26,28, and final entry in Record). The plaintiff and her counsel are grateful for the assistance of Judge Cornaby in putting this case in a condition for appeal because even an adverse determination is preferable to no determination at all.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

It is reported that Abraham Lincoln, exasperated with

the meaningless rhetoric of a fellow lawyer, stated: "he can compress the most words into the smallest idea of any man I ever met." This writer hopes to reverse the process and compress the most ideas into what at first blush may appear to be a case of limited evidence and issues.

Although Robert Gordon Travis appears in this proceeding as the named defendant-appellant, the real party in interest in these proceedings is State Farm Insurance Company which assumed the roll of representing defendant and is immediately involved to the almost complete exclusion of defendant in the statement of facts now before the court.

Casualty insurance companies are a structured and sophisticated industry which deal with printed "form" general releases on a daily business in their adjustment and settlement of losses. The Utah courts are going to have to meet issues concerning the construction, scope and effect of releases with increasing regularity because of the trade practices involving advance payments by insurance carriers designed to maintain control over claimants, and the many release issues developing as a result of the no-fault and comparative negligence statutes and their interpretations. General releases are used by the

insurance industry like confetti without thought given by either the industry or claimants to problems such as whether they extend to third-party claims, subrogation, arbitration, and unanticipated liability policy coverages. That is, until a claim arises following a so-called general release, after which the release is raised as a defense by knowledgeable insurance carriers and their lawyers against uninformed and unsuspecting lay public who do not understand that they need an equally knowledgeable lawyer on retainer nowadays. And it is questionable whether the average lawyer is sophisticated enough in the fluctuating comparative negligence environment in Utah to predict the consequences of the printed matter of form releases and printed endorsement forms commonly found on the reverse said of insurance drafts. Some of the consequences of such releases may, or may not, develop three or four years down the road depending on this court's decisions relative to contribution and insurance policy exclusions.

Summarizing the foregoing, this case involves principles of law and social policy which extend far beyond the limited fact situation contained in the short transcript and exhibits before this court on appeal. This case also involves the comparative sophistication of State Farm as

compared to the other parties to the trial. As to the other parties, the court has been careful to refer to the respective policies of the first-party and second-party insurance carriers to third-party claimants as controlled with first-party insured plaintiffs, the ethical duties of insurance adjusters to make fair disclosures and to act in good faith toward third-party claimants, and whether there are common law and statutory standards of fair practices required of adjusters and their carriers similar to those codified in California and now adopted by regulation in Utah.

It is difficult for this writer to analyze and set forth points of error and argument in this case because of reliance on the numerous general statements of error in the record, and because of a deep concern about the jury verdict that the transcript of the trial and exhibits on file cannot support in any way by the trial court's conclusions and decision that the release herein was a general release resulting in dismissal of plaintiff's claims. There is sufficient undisputed evidence in this case--in spite of the numerous admitted deficiencies--to support any number of theories contrary to the claim that the release herein was a general release, namely: that defendant failed to maintain his burden of proof in each of the relevant areas.

meet her burden of proof. Her objection to the court's said general release..." Plaintiff contends that the finding was erroneous in two respects, namely: (a) that defendant carried the ultimate burden of proof; and (b) that there was a general release executed by plaintiff.

Rule 8 (c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that "In a pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively...release...and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense." It is elementary that the burden of proof or persuasion rests on the party asserting or pleading an affirmative defense. See, 31-A C.R.S., Evidence, Section 104; Estes v. Leander, 204 Kan. 346, 222 P. 2d 209, Rule 1 (4), Utah Rules of Evidence, defines "burden of proof" to mean "the obligation of a party to meet the requirements of a rule of law that the fact be proved" by the applicable standard of evidence. Rule 1 (5), U.R.E. defines "burden of producing the evidence" which is often referred to as the burden of going forward.

Appleman on Insurance, Vol. 2, Section 1311, at pp. 534, 535, notes the divergence of holdings on the issue of burden of proof and production as follows:

There has been some difference of opinion, however, as to the person bearing the burden of proof upon such matters. It has been stated the defendant pleading a release is the one who has the burden of establishing the defense. Later that case, the insurer has the burden of proving the existence and validity of the release, and where the circumstances show an apparent understanding the burden may be cast on the insurer to show the validity of the transaction. And it has been held that a release procured by the insurer's agent will be construed against the insurer.

In the case of in re Swiss Estate v. Walker Bank & Trust Co., et al., 4 U. 2d 217, 293 P. 2d 682 (1956), this court discussed in text book all the distinction between "burden of proof (persuasion)" and "burden of producing evidence." The burden of persuasion remains throughout the trial on the party whose claim for relief depends on the existence of a fact, whereas the burden of producing evidence may shift during the trial.

Clearly, the defendant had the burden of proof on the affirmative defense of the release, and this burden remained with defendant throughout the trial. Plaintiff followed the proper burden of going forward with the evidence as will be further indicated in her Points following.

POINT II.

THE COURT CONCLUDED IN FINDING THAT
PLAINTIFF EXECUTED A GENERAL RELEASE.

The trial court found (paragraph 4, Findings of Fact,

R. 37) that "with full knowledge that she had sustained both property damage and bodily injury, the plaintiff executed a general and complete release..." The plaintiff submits that this finding by the court to be contrary to the undisputed evidence and the law of construction pertaining to contracts.

The undisputed evidence in this case includes: (a) that plaintiff and defendant were involved in a vehicle collision in Water County, Utah, on February 1, 1938, which resulted in claims by plaintiff against defendant for both personal injuries and property damage (R. 1,2 and T. 3, 15); (b) that the defendant was insured for liability by State Farm, and an adjuster for State Farm proceeded to investigate the accident (T. 5); (c) that State Farm made a preliminary determination that liability was probably against its insured and proceeded to adjust the plaintiff's claims (T. 7-8); (d) that State Farm prepared the release, Exhibit 7, in the form signed by plaintiff on March 8, 1938, (T. 6-8); (e) State Farm paid to plaintiff the sum of \$2,140 at the time plaintiff executed said release (Ex. 7, p. 9); (f) that said payment of \$2,140 exactly equalled the plaintiff's estimate of repairs for her vehicle, said

estimate having been prepared by State Farm (Ex. 1, T. 6); and (g) plaintiff affirmatively testified that the release extended to repair of her car only (T. 25,26), and the State Farm adjuster could not remember his representations (T. 16,17,35).

The disputed contentions in this case include: (a) the intention of the parties at the time the release was executed and payment made; and, (b) the representations made by State Farm and its representatives to plaintiff prior to and at the time the release was executed by plaintiff and \$622.45 received by her.

The release (Ex. 2), prepared in its entirety by State Farm and its representatives (T. 7,8,9), is an interesting document. It is a printed standard form release customarily used by State Farm (T. 7,8), but typed on said release by State Farm preceding the printed text is the following:

The undersigned is not releasing any part of his claim for which he has received or will in the future receive payments under personal injury protection insurance available to him. The present or future subrogation rights of any insurer for making payments under such coverage is reserved.

The plaintiff respectfully submits that the above typed reservation in and of itself qualifies the release

and reserves unequivocally any claims plaintiff and or plaintiff have for personal injuries in addition to any subrogation claims.

A release is contractual in nature and general principles of contract law pertaining to interpretation, effect and construction are applicable thereto, 66 Am. Jur. 2d, Release, Section 1; 76 C.J.S., Release, Section 1; 16 Couch on Insurance 2d, Section 60: 18; Horgan v. Industrial Design Corporation, (Utah)657 P. 2d 751 (1982). General contract principles and rules of construction applicable to releases include, but are not limited to, the following:

- (1) It is a well settled rule of law that where part of a contract is written or typed and part is printed, and the written and printed parts are apparently inconsistent or there is reasonable doubt as to the sense and meaning of the whole the words in writing or typing will control. 17 Am. Jur. 2d, Contracts, Section 271; Holland v. Brown, 15 U. 2d 422, 394 P. 2d 77 (1964).
- (2) A release should be strictly construed against the party who framed or wrote it. 66 Am. Jur. 2d, Release, Section 28; 16 Couch on Insurance 2d, Section 60: 18. Doubtful language in contracts should be interpreted most strongly against the party who uses it or who has drawn it. Bryant v. Reseret News Publishing Co., 120 Utah 241, 233 P. 2d 355; Wingets, Inc., v. Butters, 28 Utah 2d. 221, 500 P. 2d. 1007 (1973).
- (3) The primary rule of construction is that the intention of the parties shall govern, and this intention

- tion is to be determined with a consideration of what was within the contemplation of the parties when the release was executed, which in turn is to be resolved in the light of all of the surrounding facts and circumstances under which the parties acted. 66 Am. Jur. 2d, Release, Section 30.
- (4) If a release is drafted to release one claim, it is not a bar to other claims. 66 Am. Jur. 2d, Release, Section 29; 3 Appleman on Insurance, Section 1711.
 - (5) Where the courts have to choose between conflicting interpretations in agreements, an interpretation which will bring an equitable result will be preferred over a harsh or inequitable one. First Security Bank v. Maxwell, (Utah) 659 P. 2d 1078 (1983).
 - (6) Although a release must be supported by consideration, the parol evidence rule does not prevent a showing of the true consideration. 66 Am. Jur. 2d, Release, 352.
 - (7) Grossly inadequate consideration may be considered with other evidence as tending to show mistake or fraud. 66 Am. Jur. 2d, Release, Section 11.
 - (8) Ambiguity in a written contract permits parol evidence to be admitted to show the intentions of the parties. Hibdon v. Truck Insurance Exchange, (Utah) 657 P. 2d 1358 (1983).
 - (9) All of the provisions of a release must be construed together. 3 Appleman on Insurance, Section 1711. Also see First Security Bank v. Maxwell, (Utah) 659 P. 2d 1078, (1983), pertaining to construction of two contracts relating to same real estate transaction.

Plaintiff does not want to belabor the construction of the release, Exhibit 2, but it is obvious that it consists of printed material, a typed addition at the top of the

release, and handwritten insertions. The accepted rule of construction requires that the typed material prevail over the printed body. The first sentence of the typed material provides that "The undersigned is not releasing any part of his (sic) claim for which he has received or will in the future receive payments under personal injury protection insurance available to him." This seems to plaintiff to be an unequivocal and unambiguous reservation of plaintiff's personal injury claims. However, if this court reads that sentence differently, then it becomes inescapable that there is a patent ambiguity to which the accepted rules apply including parol evidence, intention of the parties, lack of consideration, construction against the preparer of the contract, and other rules of construction and interpretation above noted. The transcript and exhibits in this case provide a model vehicle for delineating the construction and effect of releases, although the record might have been improved on if the trial court had not, erroneously it is believed, sustained objections rather consistently on the basis of leading questions and argumentation (T. 13,14,17,18,24,26,30). Homer Randall was the adjuster in charge of this transaction (T. 4,6,8,16), the primary knowledgeable employee of State Farm to this

transaction, and it was produced without subpoena by State Farm to represent its interests in this case.

Plaintiff submits that within the facts of this case Homer Randall was clearly a "managing agent" and adverse witness subject to cross-examination within the purview of Rule 43(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Discussion of "who is a managing agent" may be found at 1 A.L.R. Fed. 693, but the Federal Rule 43(b) has now been stricken and transferred to Rule 611, Federal Rules of Evidence, wherein it reads "When a party calls a hostile witness, an adverse witness or a witness identified with an adverse party, interrogation may be by leading questions." This discussion is not raised as a separate point of error because the record is relatively clear in spite of the interruptions in examination.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING CONSIDERATION FOR A GENERAL RELEASE.

The findings of fact are silent on the amount of consideration paid by State Farm to plaintiff for a general release, but the conclusions of law and judgment by necessity require an implied finding that a valuable consideration was paid to plaintiff to support a general release of

personal injury benefits and medical expenses, but never argued to the trial court that the amount of consideration was irrelevant, and argued to the court in general terms in support of the release (T. 2030). The plaintiff respectfully submits that grossly inadequate consideration may be considered with other evidence as tending to show mistake or fraud, 66 Am. Jur. 2d, Release, Section 61, and that payment of an amount of admitted liability does not constitute sufficient consideration for a general release, 16 Couch on Insurance 1d, Section 60:11.

In this case, Exhibit 1 reflects a repair estimate of \$622.45 prepared by State Farm, Exhibit 2 reflects a release reciting consideration of \$622.45, and Exhibit 3 reflects a draft for \$622.45. Reference in the second sentence of the typed portion of the release to reservation of subrogation rights of any insurer for personal injury protection benefits is no consideration at all to plaintiff. This court subsequently held in Allstate Insurance Co. v. Ivie and Travelers, (Utah) 69 P. 3d 1197 (1989) and its progeny that the No-fault Insurance Act does not confer the right of subrogation on the no-fault insurer.

It is clear from the typed portion of the release (Ex.

) and the testimony of the adjuster that plaintiff had not been released by her doctor (T. 10,11,25,26), and that neither plaintiff nor the State Farm adjuster had any knowledge on the date of the release as to the extent of plaintiff's injuries nor the medical costs that plaintiff might anticipate (T.11,12,25,26). Furthermore, the adjuster had some acquaintance with the Utah No-fault law, yet he expressed no concern with the no-fault limits carried by plaintiff nor whether they would be adequate to even cover medical expenses (T.12,27,38).

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