1983

Patti Simonson v. Robert Gordon Travis : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN RULING
THAT PLAINTIFF HAD THE BURDEN OF PROOF
TO INVALIDATE THE RELEASE.

Appellant argues that the lower court erred in requiring her to carry the burden of proof in invalidating the release.

According to Plaintiff, it was Defendant's obligation to utilize the release as an affirmative defense to Plaintiff's lawsuit and was therefore incumbent upon the defendant to prove the validity of the release. (Appellant's Brief, p. 11-13). This argument is erroneous.

It is fundamental that once a party relying upon a release establishes the execution of the release by the other party, that the burden is on the releasor to show by clear and convincing evidence that the release should be set aside. Witt v. Watkins, 579 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1978); Fieser v. Stinnette, 509 P.2d 1156 (Kan. 1973).

This Court in Maxfield v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Co., 330 P.2d 1018 (Utah 1958) followed this rule and stated that one who attacks a release of liability has the burden of proving its invalidity. In addition, "Under Utah law, in order to overcome the effect of a release or other written instrument, the contrary evidence must be clear and convincing." (Id. at 1019).

A review of the record shows that Plaintiff failed to meet this burden.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING
THAT PLAINTIFF HAD EXECUTED A GENERAL
RELEASE.

Appellant argues in her brief that the release executed by the plaintiff was only a conditional release which did not

include claims for personal injuries or medical expenses. She cites various rules of contractual construction arguing that the release either clearly excludes these types of claims or, in the alternative, that the release is ambiguous and requires parole evidence. (Appellant's Brief, p. 14-18).

Respondent agrees that the document is unambiguous as a matter of law and that it is definitely a general release of all claims. As noted by Appellant herself, all of the provisions of a release must be construed together. (Appellant's Brief, p. 17). If the interpretation now given to the typed language by Appellant is correct then the majority of the language contained in the printed form has no effect. In other words, if the typed language exempts claims for personal injuries and medical expenses from the release, it is entirely inconsistent with the printed language which includes all claims "both to personal and property."

An examination of this document as a whole shows that it is not inconsistent and that both the printed form and the typed portion are concerned with independent matters. The printed form, with ink insertions contained in parentheses, states the following:

For the sole consideration of (\$622.45) the receipt and sufficiency whereof is hereby acknowledged, the undersigned hereby releases and forever discharges (Robert G. Travis) and (his) heirs, executors, administrators, agents and assigns, and all other persons, firms or corporations liable or who might be claimed to be liable, none of whom admit any liability to the undersigned but all expressly deny any liability, from any and all claims, demands, damages, actions, causes of actions or suits of any kind or nature whatsoever, and particularly on account of all injuries,

known and unknown, both to person and property, which have resulted or may in the future develop from an accident which occurred on or about the (1st) day of (February, 1978) at or near (5700 South 1900 West, Roy, Utah).

Undersigned hereby declares that the terms of this settlement have been completely read and are fully understood and are voluntarily accepted for the purpose of making a full and final compromise adjustment and settlement of any and all claims, disputed or otherwise, on account of the injuries and damages above mentioned, and for the express purpose of precluding forever any further or additional claims arising out of the afore-said accident.

Undersigned hereby accepts draft or drafts as final payment of the consideration set forth above. (Ex. 2). (Emphasis added).

There can be no doubt that the language contained in the release related to all types of claims both for property damage and for personal injuries. Plaintiff herself admitted that when she read the release it "sounded like she was releasing everything." (Tr. 24). The printed release form, therefore, contains all of the elements of a general release.

The typed clause above the printed portion of the release is not inconsistent. It states the following:

The undersigned is not releasing any part of his claim for which he has received or will in the future receive payments under personal injury protection insurance available to him. The present or future subrogation rights of any insurer for making payments under such coverage is reserved. (Emphasis added).

This clause simply states that any sum received by the claimant pursuant to his own personal injury protection insurance policy is not released and that his insurance carrier reserves any present or future subrogation right to be reimbursed

for that amount. The fact that the terms "personal injury protection insurance" and the term "such coverage" is utilized in this clause clearly indicates the interpretation just recited rather than the notion of Appellant that this clause exempted personal injuries from the terms of the general release.

Moreover, even if the release were deemed ambiguous, thereby allowing parol evidence to be admitted, there was no showing that Plaintiff had any understanding whatsoever of this clause or that she relied upon its insertion into the release form. Plaintiff could not recall when the clause was inserted and never attempted to state what she believed its intent to be.

The document, on its own face, therefore, is a complete bar to Plaintiff's action in the absence of showing of mutual mistake, fraud or other equitable grounds to defeat the clear meaning of the language. Appellant failed to meet this burden as will be discussed infra.

POINT III

THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING CONSIDERATION FOR A GENERAL RELEASE.

While the lower court did not make a specific finding of consideration for the release, the finding of such consideration was implied. Appellant argues, however, that since Plaintiff was only paid the same amount as the estimated damage to her property that she therefore had no consideration for the release of her personal injury claims. Appellant then argues that because of the inadequacy of the consideration the general

release cannot be said to extend to personal injuries and special damages. (Appellant's Brief, p. 20-21). Such an argument is without merit.

A release is a surrender of a claim which may be given for less than full consideration or even gratuitously. DeNike v. Mowery, 418 P.2d 1010 (Wash. 1966). Plaintiff by the terms of the release itself received \$622. Certainly, by any standard this sum of money was itself adequate to support consideration of the agreement.

Appellant forgets that while State Farm Insurance believed that its insured was probably responsible for the accident, it had no obligation to pay for the property damage until a complete and thorough investigation had been conducted or, in the extreme, until the matter had been litigated and a judgment rendered. State Farm agreed to short cut this procedure and to pay the property damage sum immediately.

Plaintiff may at the time have thought her injuries were minimal, that she suffered no compensable injuries, and that her own insurance carrier would cover all of her medical and lost wages expenses. Plaintiff obviously wished to receive the compensation for her automobile's damage immediately without further delay. State Farm, on the other hand, agreed to pay this amount immediately upon the condition that she would make no future claims of any nature against it. These bargained for promises together with the consideration of the actual monetary amount was sufficient to sustain the adequacy of the considera-

tion for the release.

Clearly, both parties received a benefit and both parties suffered a detriment. It was not necessary that Plaintiff be allotted a certain consideration for each of her possible claims arising from the accident. The lower court decision was not in error.

POINT IV

THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING RELATING TO TENDER IS NOT BASIC TO THE ISSUES RAISED ON THIS APPEAL.

The lower court noted in its Findings of Fact that since executing the release of March 8, 1978 the plaintiff had retained all of the consideration she received as a condition of giving the release. (Tr. 38). Appellant argues extensively that this finding as to tender invalidated the court's decision of a valid release. (Appellant's Brief, p. 22-24).

Respondent does not believe that the finding of tender is relevant to this appeal. Certainly, it is undisputable that Plaintiff did not tender back any amount of the money she received from State Farm. As such, the finding of fact is correct.

Respondent has never contended that the failure to tender these amounts was the basis for the court's decision in finding the release to prohibit Plaintiff from making any further claims. The question of tender normally goes to ratification of an act. The fact that Plaintiff failed to tender any amount during the numerous years between the execution of the agreement and the

commencement of the lawsuit would be some evidence of her ratification of the release agreement but certainly would not be conclusive for sustaining the court's finding of validity of the release. There is no evidence that the lower court relied upon the failure to tender as the sole basis for the decision and therefore any discussion as to the requirement of a tender in this type of situation is merely academic.

POINT V

PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE ANY CLAIM OF FRAUD IN THE EXECUTION OF THE RELEASE AND THE LOWER COURT DECISION UPHOLDING THE RELEASE IS THEREFORE CORRECT.

This Court has held on numerous occasions that evidence of fraud must be clear, precise and indubitable and must be proved with clear and convincing evidence. Kelley v. Salt Lake Transportation Co., 116 P.2d 383 (Utah 1941); In re Swan Estate v. Walker Bank & Trust Co., 293 P.2d 682 (Utah 1956).

The record in this case does not support any claim of Plaintiff that she was fraudulently induced to execute the release now in contention. The basis of any claim she can now assert is that she was tricked by Mr. Randall into signing the release form. This claim by Plaintiff is contradicted by not only the language contained in the release itself but by the testimony of Mr. Randall and the circumstances surrounding the release.

The plaintiff admitted that the release clearly told her

that she was waiving all of her rights by signing it. She made her "change of mind" upon a telephone conversation with Randall who allegedly assured her that the release did not mean what it really said. Plaintiff herself never claimed that Randall told her that the typed language at the top of the release agreement cancelled out the other language at the bottom. In fact, she could not recall whether the typed language was present even before she spoke with Randall.

While Randall could not recall the specifics of the conversation per se, he stated that he did recall talking to the plaintiff and that he was sure he would have given her the same answer that he told all claimants concerning the release form. Plaintiff produced no evidence showing any motive why Randall would want to misrepresent or trick the plaintiff into signing the release. Randall's testimony was completely consistent that he would never have told her that the release covered only property damage and was in direct contradiction to any claim made by the plaintiff.

It is always a question for the trier of fact to determine whether a Plaintiff sustains the burden of proof in attacking a release on grounds of fraud. Ketchum v. Wood, 438 P.2d 596 (Wash. 1968). It is also the prerogative of the trier of fact to determine the weight to be given the testimony of witnesses and wherever there is any circumstance which reasonably provides a basis for refusing to find in accordance with a witness' testimony the trier of fact may do so. One element which may be so

considered is the interest of the witness. Aagard v. Dayton & Miller Ready Mix Concrete Co., 361 P.2d 522 (Utah 1961).

In Melvin v. Stevens, 458 P.2d 977 (Ariz. 1969) the exact type of claim was asserted. In that case the plaintiff contended that the adjuster told her that signing the release was only for the damage to her car alone. The adjuster claimed that while he advised the plaintiff to wait awhile and see what developed as to her injury that she nevertheless chose to go ahead and sign the release to get the money for a new car. The Arizona court stated:

It is not within our province to determine whether the conversation as described by Reece (the adjuster) took place; that was purely a question of fact to be determined by the trial judge and he evidently found it to be true. We cannot reverse his decision under these facts. (Id. at 980).

The trial court in the instant case could also have considered evidence that was not produced by the plaintiff. For example, Plaintiff introduced no evidence showing that she ever attempted to submit medical claims to State Farm after the release had been signed. Since she testified that she believed the release only covered property damage, the question could be asked why she did not submit her excess medical bills to State Farm for payment. The record shows that the only notification of any claim against the release was the actual filing of the lawsuit over two years after the release had been signed.

Respondent submits that not only was there failure of clear and convincing proof of fraud but there was a failure of

any proof of fraud. The evidence shows that the plaintiff some five weeks after the accident elected to immediately receive her payment for the property damage to her automobile. The lower court could have believed that she was upset when she learned she had to give up all claims against State Farm in order to receive this amount but she later decided to execute the release anyway based upon her assumption that her own insurance carrier would cover her expenses and that she was not seriously harmed.

It should be noted here that the plaintiff failed to produce any evidence as to the exact extent of her injuries at the time the release was signed or the amount of medical bills that she had expended at that time. The lower court could correctly infer that this failure to produce evidence showed that while Plaintiff knew she had sustained some injury from the accident she did not believe it was very serious and therefore agreed to execute the release to expedite her property damage claim.

Thus, the facts and evidence in this case show no clear and convincing proof that Plaintiff was fraudulently induced into executing the release. It was the lower court which was able to observe the demeanor of the witnesses and to decide the sincerity and truthfulness of this testimony. This conclusion should not be upset by this Court in the absence of clear abuse or misapplication of the law. Stone v. Stone, 431 P.2d 802 (Utah 1967).

Finally, Plaintiff argues that Utah statutes and insurance regulations create a confidential relationship which somehow shifts the burden of proof in these types of cases. This argument is completely irrelevant to this appeal.

First, unlike the California case cited by Appellant (Appellant's Brief, p. 27) no action has ever been initiated against either State Farm Insurance Co. or the adjuster. Second, the regulations upon which Plaintiff relies were not even in effect at the time of the events of this case as admitted by Appellant herself. (Appellant's Brief, p. 30).

Finally, to equate the role of Mr. Randall in this case to that of a confidential advisor is completely baseless. For example, in the In re Swan Estate case cited by Appellant (Appellant's Brief, p. 28) a close friend and attorney drafted the will of the deceased and named himself as a beneficiary. This type of a relationship can hardly be said to exist in the instant case.

Here, Mr. Randall was an insurance agent representing the defendant who collided with Plaintiff in the automobile accident. There was no contractual relationship existing between Randall and the plaintiff. Furthermore, Plaintiff had not even personally met Randall but only spoke with him on the telephone. The evidence does not support any finding of a close personal relationship of trust and confidence.

Respondent agrees that insurance agents have duties to both their own insured and to adverse parties. Respondent readily

admits that any insurance agent who is guilty of wrongdoing should be disciplined by the insurance industry or by the state. It may even be, as Appellant now asserts, that some type of civil cause of action could be asserted based upon the newly enacted regulations and statutes. However, the present appeal does not involve any such fraudulent or unethical conduct nor does the present state of the law allow any such civil action being maintained.

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